Table of Contents

Chapte	$1 Introduction \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	1					
1.1	Motivation	1					
1.2	Objectives						
1.3	Outline						
Chapte	2 Literature Review	6					
2.1	Fluoride-Salt-Cooled High-Temperature Reactor	6					
	2.1.1 Advanced High Temperature Reactor Design	8					
	2.1.2 Previous AHTR modeling efforts and challenges	8					
	2.1.3 AHTR Benchmark	10					
2.2	Additive Manufacturing	10					
	2.2.1 Application of Additive Manufacturing to Nuclear Reactor Core Components	11					
2.3	Nuclear Reactor Design Optimization	13					
	2.3.1 Impact of Additive Manufacturing on Nuclear Reactor Design Optimization .	15					
2.4	Evolutionary Algorithms	16					
	2.4.1 Genetic Algorithms	16					
	2.4.2 Balancing Genetic Algorithm Hyperparameters	19					
2.5	Summary	21					
Refere	ces	22					

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Motivation

The impact of climate change on natural and human systems caused by elevated Greenhouse Gas (GHG) concentrations is increasingly apparent by increases in global average surface temperatures, sea levels, and severe weather events [1]. Energy use and production contribute to two-thirds of total GHG emissions [1]. Furthermore, as the human population increases and previously underdeveloped nations rapidly urbanize, global energy demand will continue to rise. Because energy generation technology selection profoundly impacts climate change, large scale deployment of emissions-free nuclear power plants could significantly reduce GHG production, but faces challenges of cost and safety [1, 2]. The nuclear power industry must overcome these challenges to ensure continued global use and expansion of nuclear energy technology to provide low-carbon electricity worldwide. To enhance the role of nuclear energy in our global energy ecosystem, the Generation IV International Forum was created to lead and plan research and development to support a new and innovative Generation IV of nuclear energy systems [3]. Generation IV nuclear systems' goals are defined in four areas: sustainability, economics, safety and reliability, and proliferation resistance and physical protection [3]. Table 1.1 summarizes the goals in each area.

The Generation IV International Forum's methodology working groups developed an evaluation and selection methodology based on these goals, culminating in selecting six Generation IV systems: Gas-Cooled Fast Reactor System (GFR), Lead-Cooled Fast Reactor (LFR), Molten Salt Reactor (MSR), Sodium-Cooled Fast Reactor (SFR), Supercritical-Water-Cooled Reactor System (SCWR), and Very-High-Temperature Reactor System (VHTR) [3]. This proposed work will consider the MSR and VHTR systems. The MSR system produces fission power in a circulating molten salt fuel mixture. It has a closed fuel cycle tailored to the efficient utilization of plutonium and

Area	Goals				
Sustainability	- Have a positive impact on the environment through the displacement of				
	polluting energy and transportation sources by nuclear electricity generation				
	and nuclear-produced hydrogen				
	- Promote long-term availability of nuclear fuel				
	- Minimize volume, lifetime, and toxicity of nuclear waste				
Economics	- Have a life cycle and energy production cost advantage over other energy				
	sources				
	- Reduce economic risk to nuclear projects by developing plants using				
	innovative fabrication and construction techniques				
Safety and Reliability	- Increase the use of robust designs, and inherent and transparent safety				
	features that can be understood by non-experts				
	- Enhance public confidence in the safety of nuclear energy				
Proliferation Resistance	- Provide continued effective proliferation resistance of nuclear energy				
and Physical Protection	systems through improved design features and other measures				
	- Increase the robustness of new facilities				

Table 1.1: Goals of Generation IV Nuclear Systems [3, 4]

minor actinides. Molten fluoride salts have very low vapor pressure, which reduces stress on the system. MSR systems also have inherent system safety due to fail-safe drainage, passive cooling, and a low inventory of volatile fission products in the fuel. The MSR system is top-ranked in sustainability because of its closed fuel cycle and excellent waste burndown performance. It rates good in safety and proliferation resistance and physical protection, due to its inherent safety features, and rates neutrally in economics because of its large number of subsystems [3]. The VHTR system has a once-through uranium cycle and is primarily aimed at high-temperature heat applications, such as hydrogen production. It is a graphite-moderated, helium-cooled reactor that uses Tristruc-tural Isotropic (TRISO) fuel, which does not degrade at high burnup and temperature. The VHTR system is highly ranked in economics because of its high hydrogen production efficiency, high safety and reliability, and inherent safety features of the fuel and reactor. It rates well in proliferation resistance and physical protection and neutrally in sustainability because of its open fuel cycle [3].

In the proposed work, we explore the Fluoride-Salt-Cooled High-Temperature Reactor (FHR) concept, which is a combination of the best aspects of MSR and VHTR technologies. The FHR uses high-temperature coated-particle fuel (similar to the VHTR) and a low-pressure liquid fluoride-salt coolant (similar to the MSR) [5, 6].

In recent years, Additive Manufacturing (AM) technology, popularly known as '3D printing',

has advanced and altered the manufacturing and design of components [7]. The automotive and aircraft industries have successfully fabricated parts with key AM technologies relevant to nuclear reactor core structures [8]. For example, Boeing successfully used AM to reduce weight in the 787 Dreamliner [9] and SES-15 spacecraft [10]. Successful AM applications in the aerospace industry are promising for the nuclear industry since both are highly regulated. Using AM to fabricate nuclear reactor components will drastically reduce cost and timelines, and increase safety and performance by tailoring local material properties and redesigning geometries for optimal load paths [7].

With further advancement of AM technologies, a reactor core could be 3D printed in the near future. Oak Ridge National Laboratory (ORNL) is leading this initiative through the 2019 Transformational Challenge Reactor (TCR) Demonstration Program. The TCR program will leverage recent scientific achievements in advanced manufacturing, nuclear materials, machine learning, and computational modeling and simulation to build a microreactor. The program aims to design, manufacture, and operate a demonstration reactor by 2023 [11]. Applying AM to nuclear reactor design will free complex reactor geometries from previous manufacturing constraints, opening the door for a re-examination of nuclear reactor optimization [12]. Optimization efforts towards classically manufactured nuclear reactors, and now 3D printed nuclear reactors, have focused on parameters such as radius of the core, height of cylinder, enrichment of fuel, etc [12, 13, 14, 15]. Leveraging AM technology enables us to surpass classical manufacturing constraints, such as straight fuel channels or homogenous fuel enrichment, and optimize for arbitrary geometries and parameters such as non-uniform channel shapes, and inhomogeneous fuel distribution throughout the core.

Multi-objective design problems inevitably require a trade-off between desirable attributes [16, 17]. In nuclear reactor design, one example is the trade-off between neutron economy and fuel enrichment. A reactor design must have sufficient neutron economy to ensure criticality but also have a low fuel enrichment to reduce proliferation risk. Conflicting objectives means that there is no *one* perfect solution but a *set* of equally optimal solutions [16]. Multi-objective problems are challenging to optimize; therefore, they cannot be handled by classical optimization methods, such as gradient methods, because only the local optimum will be found [18]. Evolutionary algorithms (EAs) have proven successful methods to optimize multi-objective problems [19], as they can find a solution near the global optimum [18]. They also take advantage of parallel systems for reduced

computational cost. The most popular EAs used to solve multi-objective problems are genetic algorithms [16, 19], which imitate natural selection to evolve solutions by (1) maintaining a population of solutions, (2) allowing fitter solutions to reproduce, and (3) letting lesser fit solutions die off, resulting in final solutions that are better than the previous generations [18].

Therefore, in this work, we propose designing an optimization tool that uses the EA optimization technique with nuclear transport and thermal-hydraulics software. This tool will be used to explore nonuniform FHR reactor core parameters, now possible with AM technology, to optimize reactor systems fully.

1.2 Objectives

We developed the proposed work's main objectives based on leveraging open-source artificial intelligence tools with validated open-source nuclear transport and thermal-hydraulics software to create an open-source tool which generates optimal reactor designs quickly. Accordingly, the objectives are listed below:

Model the FHR with established nuclear transport and thermal-hydraulics software. To demonstrate success in modeling the FHR with nuclear transport and thermal-hydraulics software before using the optimization tool, we will participate in the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Nuclear Energy Agency (NEA)'s FHR benchmark [20].

Develop a tool that applies evolutionary algorithms to optimize nuclear reactor design. This tool will not reinvent the wheel—it will utilize a well-documented and validated open-source EA Python package with established nuclear transport and thermal-hydraulics software. This tool will run parallel on high-performance computing (HPC) machines, be open-source, and follow the rules for ensuring reproducibility, effectiveness, and usability [21, 22, 23].

Optimize a nuclear reactor design with the optimization tool and a neutronics software. We will demonstrate successful implementation of the optimization tool with a nuclear transport software by optimizing a simple FHR model for a single objective function.

Tune hyperparameters with the optimization tool for a neutronics problem. Hyperparameter selection will impact the effectiveness of the algorithm for our problem. Therefore, we must conduct a hyperparameter search to find ones that work best for our problem.

Demonstrate nuclear reactor design optimization and hyperparameter search with the optimization tool for a neutronics and thermal-hydraulics problem. We will demonstrate successful implementation of the optimization tool and hyperparameter tuning with the nuclear transport and thermal-hydraulics tools for a FHR model.

1.3 Outline

This document outlines the motivation, preliminary work, and future work proposed towards developing an open-source optimization tool that applies evolutionary algorithms to nuclear transport and thermal-hydraulics software to optimize nuclear reactor design beyond classical parameters to enhance fuel performance and safety further. Chapter 1 describes the motivation and objectives of the proposed work. Chapter 2 will present a literature review that organizes and reports on previous relevant work. Chapter 3 will describe the FHR benchmark specifications and the results obtained thus far. Chapter 4 will detail the computational design of the developed optimization tool. Chapter 5 will demonstrate nuclear reactor optimization with the optimization tool. Chapter 6 will summarize the remaining future work.

Chapter 2 Literature Review

This chapter provides a literature review of relevant past research efforts that give context to this proposed work. Recent advancements in AM applications for nuclear reactor core components has removed traditional manufacturing constraints on reactor design, enabling reactor designers to reexamine optimization. In the proposed work, we aim to apply evolutionary algorithm methods to explore non-conventional reactor geometries and fuel distributions, to apply a fresh perspective to nuclear reactor optimization. With growing interest in the nuclear science community and benefits of the FHR, we chose to apply the optimization methods to this reactor type, and also participate in the OECD NEA's FHR benchmarking exercise. Thus, we begin this literature review with an overview of the FHR concept, then go into detail about one specific FHR design: the Advanced High Temperature Reactor (AHTR), previous efforts and technical challenges of modeling the design, and a description of how these efforts led to the OECD NEA's initiation of the AHTR benchmark. Next, we outline AM history and describe the current research towards applying AM to the fabrication of nuclear reactor core components. We also review previous efforts towards nuclear reactor design optimization, describe how AM of nuclear reactor components enables optimization for less constrained reactor geometries, and types of optimization methods that can be leveraged in a large less-constrained design space, such as EAs. Finally, we give a background of EAs, go into detail on a specific EA: the Genetic Algorithm (GA), and how it works to robustly conduct global optimization.

2.1 Fluoride-Salt-Cooled High-Temperature Reactor

The FHR is a reactor concept introduced in 2012 that uses high-temperature coated-particle fuel and a low-pressure liquid fluoride-salt coolant [5, 6]. FHR technology combines the best aspects of MSR and VHTR (or High Temperature Gas-Cooled Reactor (HTGR)) technologies. Molten fluoride salts as working fluids for nuclear reactors have been explored since the 1960s and are desirable because of their high-temperature performance and overall chemical stability [24]. Using molten salts for reactor coolant introduces inherent safety compared to water due to the salts' high boiling temperature and high volumetric heat capacity. This eliminates the risk of coolant boiling off, resulting in fuel elements overheating [25]. The leading candidate coolant salt is the fluoride salt Li₂BeF₄ (FLiBe), which remains liquid without pressurization up to 1400 °C and has a larger heat capacity than water [25, 5]. FHRs are favorable compared to liquid fuelled reactors, such as MSR systems, because the TRISO particles' solid fuel cladding adds an extra barrier to fission product release [25].

VHTR technology has been studied since the 1970s because it delivers heat at substantially higher temperatures than Light Water Reactors (LWRs), resulting in the following advantages: increased power conversion efficiency, reduced waste heat generation, and co-generation and process heat capabilities [24]. In VHTRs, the helium coolant is held at a high pressure of approximately 100 atm, whereas the FHR's FLiBe coolant is at room pressure, resulting in lower construction costs since a thick concrete reactor vessel is not required. The molten salt coolant has superior cooling and moderating properties compared to helium coolant in VHTRs, resulting in FHRs operating at power densities two to six times higher than VHTRs [24, 5]. Therefore, by combining the FLiBE coolant from MSR technology and TRISO particles from VHTR technology, the FHR benefits from the low operating pressure and large thermal margin provided by using a molten salt coolant and the accident-tolerant qualities of TRISO particle fuel.

Several types of FHR conceptual designs exist worldwide: Pebble-Bed Fluoride-Salt-Cooled High-Temperature Reactor (PB-FHR) at University of California Berkeley (UCB) with circulating pebble-fuel [26, 27], the Solid Fuel Thorium Molten Salt Reactor (SF-TMSR) at the Shanghai Institute of Applied Physics (SINAP) in China with static pebble-fuel [28], the large centralstation AHTR at ORNL [29, 30] and the Small Modular AHTR (SmAHTR) at ORNL [31] with static plate-fuel.



Figure 2.1: Advanced High Temperature Reactor fuel assembly (left) and core configuration (right) [32].

2.1.1 Advanced High Temperature Reactor Design

This proposed work focuses on the FHR design with hexagonal fuel assemblies consisting of TRISO fuel particles embedded in planks, i.e., the AHTR design developed by ORNL. The AHTR has 3400 MWt thermal power and 1400 MW electric power with inlet/outlet temperatures of 650/700°C [30]. Figure 2.1 shows the prismatic AHTR's fuel assembly and core configuration. Each hexagonal fuel element features plate-type fuel consisting of eighteen planks arranged in three diamond-shaped sectors, with a central Y-shaped structure and external channel (wrapper). Each fuel plank contains an isostatically pressed carbon with fuel stripes on each plank's outer side. The fuel stripes are prismatic regions composed of a graphite matrix filled with a cubic lattice of TRISO particles. The core consists of 252 assemblies radially surrounded by reflectors [32]. Chapter ?? details the specifications of the AHTR geometry modeled in this proposed work.

2.1.2 Previous AHTR modeling efforts and challenges

Modeling and simulation of the AHTR design have been an ongoing effort since its conception in 2003 [33]. The AHTR core design differs significantly from the present LWR-based nuclear power plants. These differences lead to modeling challenges and the need to verify and validate modeling and simulation methods [32]. Verification and validation of neutronics and thermal-hydraulics tools' capability to successfully model the AHTR design are crucial steps in support of licensure

Table 2.1	1: Phenom	ena Identificat	ion and	Ranking	Table	identified	Advanced	High	Temperature
Reactor	physical pl	henomena requ	uiring fu	rther rese	earch [3	34].			

Category	Phenomena				
Fundamental cross section data	- Moderation in FliBe				
	- Thermalization in FliBe				
	- Absorption in FliBe				
	- Thermalization in carbon				
	- Absorption in carbon				
Material Composition	- Fuel particle distribution				
Computational Methodology	- Solution Convergence				
	- Granularity of depletion regions				
	- Multiple heterogeneity treatment for generating multigroup				
	cross sections				
	- Selection of multigroup structure				
	- Boundary conditions for multigroup cross section generation				
General Depletion	Spectral history				

of the AHTR design towards the eventual goal of deployment [34, 35]. Several neutronic studies conducted along the way to the current AHTR design have shed light on the technical challenges facing the design [32, 36, 31].

Georgia Institute of Technology (Georgia Tech) led an Integrated Research Project to understand challenges in AHTR materials and modeling its neutronics and thermal-hydraulics [37]. During the research project, a panel of subject matter experts generated a Phenomena Identification and Ranking Table (PIRT). The PIRT identifies areas that need additional research to better understand important phenomena for adequate future modeling [34]. Table 2.1 lists the phenomena identified as requiring further research.

The AHTR has a complex core design due to the multiple heterogeneity present in the fuel introduced by TRISO particles' presence embedded in planks [32, 34]. We must obtain detailed reference power distributions to assess lower-fidelity models' accuracy, thus, requiring accurate models of the AHTR's complex geometry with individual TRISO particle fidelity. However, it is challenging, particularly for deterministic codes that use multigroup cross sections and traditional homogenization methods [32], which are insufficient to capture the correct physics in AHTRs due to the multiple heterogeneity [32]. In the AHTR, single and multiple slab homogenization decreased computation time by an order of 10; however, they introduce a nontrivial error of $\sim 3\%$ [32, 38]. To

determine the feasibility and safety of the AHTR design, we must calculate core physics parameters to an acceptable uncertainty. For Monte Carlo codes, increasing neutron histories reduces statistical uncertainty but comes at an increased computational cost, requiring the use of supercomputers to run the simulations.

Another technical challenge the AHTR design faces is the uncertainty of the graphite and carbonaceous moderator material properties: densities, temperatures, and thermal scattering data. Problematically, the thermal scattering data ($S(\alpha, \beta)$ matrices) for the bound nuclei in the Fluoride-Lithium-Beryllium (FLiBe) salt are lacking [32]. Mei et al. [39] and Zhu et al. [40] examined the thermal scattering behavior of solid and liquid FLiBe. They concluded that the bound and free atom cross section of FLiBe are identical above 0.1eV and diverges below 0.01eV, which means that the use or absence of thermal scattering data will impact the accuracy of the results [32].

2.1.3 AHTR Benchmark

To address and further understand the technical challenges described in the previous section, in 2019, the OECD-NEA initiated a benchmark to assess the modeling and simulation capabilities for the AHTRs with TRISO fuel embedded in fuel planks of hexagonal fuel elements [20]. The benchmark plans to have three phases, starting from a single fuel element simulation without burnup, gradually extending to full core depletion and feedback. The benchmark's overarching objective is to identify the applicability, accuracy, and practicality of the latest methods and codes to assess the current state of the art of FHR simulation and modeling [41]. The benchmark also enables the cross-verification of codes and methodologies for the challenging AHTR geometry, which is especially useful since applicable reactor physics experiments for code validation are scarce [42, 41]. Chapter ?? will provide a detailed description of the benchmark phases and results obtained so far.

2.2 Additive Manufacturing

Additive Manufacturing (AM) is the formalized term for what used to be called 'rapid prototyping' and what is popularly called '3D printing' [43]. The basic principle of AM is that a model is initially generated using a three-dimensional Computer-Aided Design (3D CAD) system and then fabricated directly without the need for process planning. In AM, the parts are made by adding materials in layers; each layer is a thin cross section of the 3D CAD designed part, as opposed to subtractive manufacturing methods such as traditional machining [44]. All commercialized AM machines to date use a layer-based approach, and the major ways that they differ are in materials, layer creation method, and how the layers are bonded to each other [43]. These major differences will determine the following factors: accuracy of the final part, material and mechanical properties, the time required to manufacture the part, the need for post-processing, the size of AM machine, and the overall cost of the machine and the process [43]. Initially, AM was used to manufacture prototypes. However, with improvements in material properties, accuracy, and overall quality of AM output, the applications for AM expanded to the point at which some industries build parts for direct assembly purposes [45]. Furthermore, using AM in conjunction with other technologies, such as high-power lasers, has enabled AM to manufacture parts made from various metals [43].

2.2.1 Application of Additive Manufacturing to Nuclear Reactor Core Components

AM has progressed rapidly in the last 30 years, from rapid design prototyping with polymers in the automotive industry to scale production of metal components. Examples include Boeing using AM to reduce the 979 Dreamliner's weight [9] and General Electric using AM to produce fuel injection nozzles [46]. The most common metal AM technologies, selective laser melting (SLM), electron beam melting (EBM), laser directed energy deposition (L-DED), and binder jetting, are not currently used to manufacture nuclear power plant parts. Wide-spread adoption of these methods in the nuclear industry could drastically reduce fabrication costs and timelines, combine multiple systems and assembled components into single parts, increase safety and performance by tailoring local material properties, and enable geometry redesign for optimal load paths [7]. Many Generation IV advanced reactor concepts have complex geometries, such as hex-ducts for sodiumcooled fast reactors, that are costly and difficult to fabricate using standard processing techniques. Traditional manufacturing routes also restrict many viable geometries for reactor designers to explore [47]. In summary, the main benefits of using AM for reactor core components is that we are no longer geometrically constrained by conventional fuel manufacturing and can further optimize and improve fuel geometries to enhance fuel performance at lower costs [48].

Experimental work in the nuclear materials' field demonstrates the application of AM to nuclear fuel and structural core material fabrication. Rosales et al. [49] conducted a feasibility study of direct routes to fabricate dense uranium silicide (U_3Si_2) fuel pellets using the Idaho National Laboratory (INL) invented Additive Manufacturing as an Alternative Fabrication Technique (AMAFT). U_3Si_2 is an accident-tolerant nuclear fuel candidate due to its high uranium density and improved thermal properties. Its current metallurgical fabrication process is expensive and long; the goal of AMAFT is to fabricate U_3Si_2 at a lower cost in a timely and commercially-reliable manner [49]. Sridharan et al. [47] demonstrated the application of the laser-blown-powder AM process to fabricate ferritic/martensitic (FM) steel, a type of steel commonly used for cladding and structural components in nuclear reactors. Koyanagi et al. [50] presented the latest AM technology for manufacturing nuclear-grade silicon carbide (SiC) materials; they demonstrated that combinations of AM techniques and traditional SiC densification methods enabled new designs of SiC components with complex shapes. SiC has excellent strength at elevated temperatures, chemical inertness, relatively low neutron absorption, and stability under neutron irradiation up to high doses [51, 52, 50]. These qualities make SiC suitable for many applications in nuclear systems such as fuel cladding, constituents of fuel particles [52] and pellets [53], and core structural components in fission reactors [51]. Trammel et al [54] conducted a preliminary investigation to assess the possibilities of fabricating a fuel element with embedded TRISO fuel using AM techniques, such as binderjet printing and chemical vapor infiltration (CVI). They successfully demonstrated a fabrication method using the following steps (depicted in Figure 2.2):

- 1. A SiC fuel element structure is first printed with binderjet technology.
- 2. The designated fueled region of the element is loaded with surrogate TRISO particles and additional SiC powder to fill interstitial spaces between particles.
- 3. The loaded fuel element is densified in a CVI process to achieve microencapsulation of TRISO particles in a SiC matrix.

Many of the materials and fabrication methods discussed are applicable for FHR-part manufacturing. Therefore, this reiterates the possibility of leveraging AM to 3D print a FHR-type



Figure 2.2: Stages of AM fabrication conducted at Oak Ridge National Laboratory to produce a fuel element with non-homogenously shaped coolant channels and TRISO particles embedded in a SiC matrix [54].

reactor with non-conventional geometry.

2.3 Nuclear Reactor Design Optimization

The practice of nuclear reactor optimization has been around since the conception of nuclear reactors. Optimization has been applied to many nuclear engineering sub-fields such as reactor design, reactor reloading patterns, and the nuclear fuel cycle. In the proposed work, we will focus on the reexamination of nuclear reactor core design optimization for arbitrary reactor geometries and fuel distributions. Previous efforts towards nuclear reactor core design optimization were limited by traditional manufacturing constraints and utilized deterministic and stochastic optimization techniques, coupled with surrogate models.

Deterministic optimization methods usually start from a guess solution. Then, the algorithm suggests a search direction by applying local information to a pre-specified transition rule. The best solution becomes the new solution, and the above procedure continues several times [55]. Drawbacks of deterministic methods include: algorithms tend to get stuck at a suboptimal solution, and an algorithm efficient in solving one type of problem may not solve a different problem efficiently [55]. Stochastic optimization methods, such as EAs amd simulated annealing, minimize or maximize an objective function when randomness is present; they tend to find globally optimal solutions more reliably than deterministic methods.

A nuclear reactor's complexity results in reactor design optimization being a multi-objective design problem requiring a tradeoff between desirable attributes [16, 17]. When multiple conflicting objectives are important, there is no single optimum solution that simultaneously optimizes all objectives. Instead, the multi-objective optimization problem's outcome is a set of optimal solutions with varying degree objective values [55]. For a multi-objective problem like reactor design optimization, an ideal multi-objective optimization method should find widely spread solutions in the obtained non-dominated front [55].

Recent efforts towards nuclear reactor optimization have relied heavily on the aforementioned stochastic methods, with the occasional addition of stochastic-deterministic hybrid methods. Sacco et al. [13, 56] used stochastic simulated annealing and deterministic-stochastic hybrid optimization techniques to optimize reactor dimensions, enrichment, materials, etc., in order to minimize the average peak factor in a three-enrichment-zone reactor. Odeh et al. [57] used the simulated annealing stochastic algorithm coupled with neutronics and thermal-hydraulics codes, Purdue Advanced Reactor Core Simulator (PARCS) and RELAP5 [58], to develop an optimum Purdue Novel Modular Reactor (NMR-50) core design to achieve a 10-year cycle length with minimal fissile loading. Kropaczek et al. [59] demonstrated the constraint annealing method: a highly scalable method based on the method of parallel simulated annealing with mixing of states [60] for the solution of large-scale, multiconstrained problems in LWR fuel cycle optimization. Peireira et al. [61, 15] used a coarse-grained parallel GA and a niching GA to optimize the same problem as Sacco et al. [13]. Kamalpour et al. [62] utilized the imperialist competitive algorithm, a type of EA, to optimize an fully ceramic microencapsulated (FCM) fuelled Pressurized Water Reactor (PWR) to extend the reactor core cycle length.

Nuclear reactor optimization problems require computationally extensive neutronics and thermalhydraulics software to compute the objective function and constraints. Multiple papers utilized stochastic optimization methods with surrogate models to replace computationally expensive, highfidelity neutronics or thermal hydraulics simulations to reduce computational cost. Kumar et al. [14] combined genetic algorithm optimization with a surrogate model to optimize for high breeding of ²³³U and ²³⁹Pu in desired power peaking limits and keff by varying these parameters: fuel pin radius, fissile material isotopic enrichment, coolant mass flow rate, and core inlet coolant temperature. Betzler et al. [63] developed a systematic approach to build a surrogate model to serve in place of high-fidelity computational analyses. They leveraged the surrogate model with a simulated annealing optimization algorithm to generate optimized designs at a lower computational cost to understand design decisions' impact on desired metrics for High Flux Isotope Reactor (HFIR) low-enriched uranium (LEU) core designs.

The Sensitivity Analysis (SA) method uses a point-by-point approach: one solution gets updated to a new solution in one iteration, which does not exploit parallel systems' advantages. Finding an optimal solution with SA methods takes very long if high-fidelity computationally expensive codes are used to compute the objective function and constraints. Therefore, using the SA method is only practical if a surrogate evaluation model is used as described in Betzler et al. [63] and Kumar et al. [14].

Contrary to a single solution per iteration in deterministic and stochastic SA methods, EAs use a population of solutions in each iteration [55]. EA methods mimic nature's evolutionary principles to drive its search towards an optimal solution. With the affordability and availability of parallel computing systems, the EA optimization method stands out as a method that easily and conveniently exploits parallel systems. Further, EAs have proved amenable to HPC solutions and scalable to tens of thousands of processors [60]. Therefore, in this proposed work, we will utilize the evolutionary algorithm optimization method.

2.3.1 Impact of Additive Manufacturing on Nuclear Reactor Design Optimization

Previous efforts towards nuclear reactor optimization, as discussed in the above section, focused on optimizing classical reactor parameters such as radius of fuel pellet and clad, enrichment of fuel, pin pitch, etc. With the advancements of AM for reactor core components, reactor designers are no longer geometrically constrained by conventional fuel manufacturing and can optimize beyond classical parameters to enhance fuel performance and safety further. Reactor design objectives remain consistent with past objectives, such as minimizing fuel amount and minimizing the maximum fuel temperature for a given power level. However, we can now approach the nuclear design problems with truly arbitrary geometries, no longer limited by traditional geometric shapes that are easy to manufacture with traditional processes: slabs as fuel planks, cylinders as fuel rods, spheres as fuel pebbles, axis-aligned coolant channels, etc [12]. This has opened the door for a re-examination of reactor core optimization in a complete new way, determining the optimal arbitrary geometry for a given objective function [12] with a much smaller set of constraints.

With a substantial increase and change in an arbitrary geometry's design space, it becomes time consuming for a human reactor designer to thoroughly explore and find optimal geometries in the expanded design space. Instead, we can leverage Artificial Intelligence (AI) optimization methods (such as EA) to promptly explore the large design space to find global optimal designs. AI would not replace the human reactor designer but shifts the human designer's focus away from conjecturing suitable geometries to defining design criteria to find optimal designs [12]. Thus, when the human designer changes the reactor criteria, the AI model will quickly adapt and produce new global optimal designs to fit the new criteria.

2.4 Evolutionary Algorithms

AI research is the study of 'intelligent agents': any device that perceives its environment and takes actions that maximize its chance of successfully achieving its goals [64]. Therefore, EAs are considered a subset of AI as they create a population of individual solutions, inspired by biological evolution, and induce goals by using a 'fitness function' to mutate and preferentially replicate high-scoring individuals to reach an optimal solution. EAs often perform well at approximating solutions to many problem types because they do not make any assumptions about the underlying fitness landscape. The most popular EAs used to solve multi-objective problems are GAs [16, 19].

2.4.1 Genetic Algorithms

GAs imitate natural genetics and selection to evolve solutions by maintaining a population of solutions, allowing fitter solutions to reproduce and letting lesser fit solutions die off, resulting in final solutions that are better than the previous generations [18]. From here, we will refer to a solution as an individual within the population. GAs efficiently exploit historical information to speculate new search points, improving each subsequent population's performance [65]. GAs are theoretically and empirically proven to provide robust search in complex spaces and are computationally simple yet powerful in their search for improvement [65]. GAs are advantageous compared to deterministic and stochastic simulated annealing optimization methods, because (1) it searches



Figure 2.3: Process of finding optimal solutions for a problem with a genetic algorithm [18].

from a population of points; (2) uses objective function information, not derivatives or other auxiliary knowledge of the problem; and (3) uses probabilistic transition rules, not deterministic rules. Figure 2.3 depicts the iterative process of using a GA to solve a problem. The GA generates new populations iteratively until it meets the termination criteria.

GAs use mechanisms inspired by biological evolution such as selection, crossover, and mutation. The three operators are simple and straightforward. The selection operator selects good individuals. The crossover operator recombines good individuals to form a better individual. The mutation operator alters individuals to create better individuals [55]. Next, we provide more description and common methods for each operator.

Selection Operator

The selection operator's primary objective is to duplicate good individuals and eliminate bad individuals while keeping the population constant [55]. It achieves this by identifying above-average individuals in a population, eliminating bad individuals from the population, and replacing them with copies of good individuals. Selection operator methods utilized in the proposed work include tournament selection, best selection, and NSGA-II selection. In tournament selection, tournaments are played between a user-defined number of individuals, and the best individual is kept in the population. This repeatedly occurs until all the population's spots are filled. In best selection, a user-defined number of best individuals are selected, and copies are made to keep the population size constant. In NSGA-II selection, parent and offspring populations are combined, and the best individuals (with respect to fitness and spread) are selected [66]. Again, copies of the best individuals are made to keep the population size constant.

The selection operator cannot create any new individuals in the population and only makes more copies of good individuals at the expense of not-so-good individuals. Instead, crossover and mutation operators perform the creation of new solutions.

Crossover Operator

The crossover operator is also known as the mating operator. In most crossover operators, two individuals are picked from the population at random, and some portion of the individuals' attributes are exchanged with one another to create two new individuals [55]. Crossover operator methods utilized in the proposed work include single-point crossover, uniform crossover, and blend crossover. In the single-point crossover, two individuals are selected from the population, and a site along the individual's definition is randomly chosen. Attributes on this cross site's right are exchanged between the two individuals, creating two new offspring individuals. In a uniform crossover, the user defines an independent probability for each individual's attribute to be exchanged; usually, p = 0.5 is used. In blend crossover, two offspring (O) individuals are created based on a linear combination of two-parent (P) individuals using the following equations:

$$O_1 = P_1 - \alpha (P_1 - P_2) \tag{2.1}$$

$$O_2 = P_2 + \alpha (P_1 - P_2) \tag{2.2}$$

where

α = Extent of the interval in which the new values can be drawn for each attribute on both side of the parents attributes (user-defined)

To preserve some good individuals selected during the selection operator stage, not all individuals are used in a crossover; this is implemented by having the user define a crossover probability (p_c) . Therefore, the crossover operator is only applied to $100p_c\%$ of the population; the rest are copied to the new population [55].

The crossover operator is mainly responsible for the search aspect of the GAs, whereas the mutation operator is needed to keep diversity in the population [55].

Mutation Operator

The mutation operator alters one or more attributes of an individual within a population. Mutation occurs in the GA based on a user-defined mutation probability (p_m) that is set low to prevent a primitive random search. Mutation operator methods utilized in the proposed work include polynomial bounded mutation, in which each attribute in each individual is mutated based on a polynomial distribution. The user also defines each attribute's upper and lower bounds and the crowding-degree of the mutation, η (a large η will produce a mutant resembling its parent, while a small η will produce the opposite).

2.4.2 Balancing Genetic Algorithm Hyperparameters

In the proposed work, hyperparameters refer to parameters whose value controls the GA's process, such as each genetic operator's associated parameters and population size. A well-performing GA

Simulation results



Figure 2.4: Control map region of selection pressure (s) and crossover probability (p_c) values in which the genetic algorithm will find the desired optimum for the one-max problem [67, 55].

needs to balance the extent of exploration and exploitation; this is done by finding a balance between the conservation of valuable individuals obtained until the current generation while exploring new individuals. If previously obtained individuals are exploited too much, the population loses its diversity, and premature convergence to a suboptimal solution is expected. Alternatively, if too much stress is given on exploration, the information obtained thus far has not been appropriately utilized, and the GA's search procedure behaves like a random search process [55]. A quantitative balance between these two issues, exploitation and exploration, is challenging to achieve. Deb et al. [55] and Goldberg et al. [67] quantified the relationship between exploitation and exploration. They found that for the one-max test problem, in which the objective is to maximize the number of 1s in a string, a GA with any arbitrary hyperparameter setting does not work well even on a simple problem. Only GAs with a selection pressure (s) and crossover probability (p_c) falling inside the control map (Figure 2.4) will find the desired optimum. Another consideration is the population size. A function with considerable variability in objective function values demands a large population size to find a global optimum [55].

Therefore, finding an optimized solution with GAs requires the user to conduct a hyperparameter search. Ng et al. [68] suggest that a coarse to fine sampling scheme is the best way to perform a systematic hyperparameter search. For a two-dimensional example of a coarse to fine sampling scheme, the user first does a coarse sample of the entire square. A fine search is then conducted on the best-performing region of the coarse search.

2.5 Summary

This chapter provided a literature review of relevant past research efforts that give context to this proposed work. In summary, additive manufacturing of nuclear reactor components is a quickly developing field thanks to the aerospace and auto industries, which led to breakthroughs in AM fabrication of metal components. The promise of cheaper and faster manufacturing of reactor components with AM frees complex reactor geometries from previous manufacturing constraints and allows reactor designers to reexamine reactor design optimization. Stochastic optimization methods such as evolutionary algorithms have proven to work well for finding global optimums in multi-objective design problems such as nuclear reactor optimization and can be leveraged to explore the vast exploration design space enabled by AM.

References

- [1] Climate Change and Nuclear Power 2018. Non-serial Publications. INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Vienna, 2018.
- [2] David Petti. The future of nuclear energy in a carbon-constrained world. Massachusetts Institute of Technology Energy Initiative (MITEI), page 272, 2018.
- [3] GIF. A technology roadmap for generation IV nuclear energy systems. Technical Report GIF-002-00, US DOE Nuclear Energy Research Advisory Committee and the Generation IV International Forum, 2002.
- [4] C. Behar. Technology roadmap update for generation IV nuclear energy systems. In OECD Nuclear Energy Agency for the Generation IV International Forum, accessed Jan, volume 17, pages 2014–03, 2014. Issue: 2018.
- [5] C. W. Forsberg, K. A. Terrani, L. L. Snead, and Y. Katoh. Fluoride-Salt-Cooled High-Temperature Reactor (FHR) with Silicon-Carbide-Matrix Coated-Particle Fuel. In *Transactions of the American Nuclear Society*, volume 107, page 907, 2012.
- [6] M. I. T. Facilitators, UW Madison Facilitators, and UC Berkeley Facilitators. Fluoride-Salt-Cooled, High-Temperature Reactor (FHR) Development Roadmap and Test Reactor Performance Requirements White Paper. 2013.
- [7] Joseph Simpson, James Haley, Corson Cramer, Olivia Shafer, Amy Elliott, Bill Peter, Lonnie Love, and Ryan Dehoff. CONSIDERATIONS FOR APPLICATION OF ADDITIVE MANU-FACTURING TO NUCLEAR REACTOR CORE COMPONENTS. page 43, May 2019.
- [8] Lawrence Murr. Frontiers of 3D Printing/Additive Manufacturing: from Human Organs to Aircraft Fabrication. Journal of Materials Science & Technology, 32(10):987–995, October 2016.
- [9] Printed titanium parts expected to save millions in Boeing Dreamliner costs. *Reuters*, April 2017.
- [10] Boeing: 3D printing done right.
- [11] K. A. Terrani. Transformational Challenge Reactor demonstration program. Technical report, 2019.
- [12] Vladimir Sobes, Briana Hiscox, Emilian Popov, Marco Delchini, Richard Archibald, Paul Laiu, Ben Betzler, and Kurt Terrani. ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE DESIGN OF NUCLEAR SYSTEMS EMPOWERED BY ADVANCED MANUFACTURING. page 8, 2020.

- [13] Wagner F. Sacco and Cludio MNA Pereira. Two stochastic optimization algorithms applied to nuclear reactor core design. *Progress in Nuclear Energy*, 48(6):525–539, 2006. ISBN: 0149-1970 Publisher: Elsevier.
- [14] Akansha Kumar and Pavel V. Tsvetkov. A new approach to nuclear reactor design optimization using genetic algorithms and regression analysis. *Annals of Nuclear Energy*, 85:27–35, November 2015.
- [15] Cludio MNA Pereira and Wagner F. Sacco. A parallel genetic algorithm with niching technique applied to a nuclear reactor core design optimization problem. *Progress in Nuclear Energy*, 50(7):740–746, 2008. ISBN: 0149-1970 Publisher: Elsevier.
- [16] Jonathan Byrne, Philip Cardiff, Anthony Brabazon, and Michael ONeill. Evolving parametric aircraft models for design exploration and optimisation. *Neurocomputing*, 142:39–47, October 2014.
- [17] Herbert A. Simon. The sciences of the artificial. MIT press, 2019.
- [18] Gbor Renner and Anik Ekrt. Genetic algorithms in computer aided design. Computer-aided design, 35(8):709–726, 2003.
- [19] Sivam Krish. A practical generative design method. Computer-Aided Design, 43(1):88–100, January 2011.
- [20] Fluoride Salt-Cooled High-Temperature Reactor (FHR) Benchmark.
- [21] Markus List, Peter Ebert, and Felipe Albrecht. Ten Simple Rules for Developing Usable Software in Computational Biology. PLOS Computational Biology, 13(1):e1005265, January 2017.
- [22] James M. Osborne, Miguel O. Bernabeu, Maria Bruna, Ben Calderhead, Jonathan Cooper, Neil Dalchau, Sara-Jane Dunn, Alexander G. Fletcher, Robin Freeman, Derek Groen, Bernhard Knapp, Greg J. McInerny, Gary R. Mirams, Joe Pitt-Francis, Biswa Sengupta, David W. Wright, Christian A. Yates, David J. Gavaghan, Stephen Emmott, and Charlotte Deane. Ten Simple Rules for Effective Computational Research. *PLoS Computational Biology*, 10(3):e1003506, March 2014.
- [23] Geir Kjetil Sandve, Anton Nekrutenko, James Taylor, and Eivind Hovig. Ten Simple Rules for Reproducible Computational Research. *PLoS Computational Biology*, 9(10):e1003285, October 2013. 00018.
- [24] Raluca O. Scarlat, Michael R. Laufer, Edward D. Blandford, Nicolas Zweibaum, David L. Krumwiede, Anselmo T. Cisneros, Charalampos Andreades, Charles W. Forsberg, Ehud Greenspan, Lin-Wen Hu, and Per F. Peterson. Design and licensing strategies for the fluoride-salt-cooled, high-temperature reactor (FHR) technology. *Progress in Nuclear Energy*, 77:406–420, November 2014.
- [25] M. K. M. Ho, G. H. Yeoh, and G. Braoudakis. Molten salt reactors. In A. Mndez-Vilas, editor, *Materials and processes for energy: communicating current research and technological developments*, number 1 in Energy Book Series, pages 761–768. Formatex Research Center, Badajoz, Spain, 2013 edition, 2013. http://www.formatex.info/energymaterialsbook/ http://www.energymaterialsbook.org/chapters.html.

- [26] Raluca O. Scarlat and Per F. Peterson. The current status of fluoride salt cooled high temperature reactor (FHR) technology and its overlap with HIF target chamber concepts. Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment, 733:57–64, 2014. ISBN: 0168-9002 Publisher: Elsevier.
- [27] David L. Krumwiede, Raluca O. Scarlat, Jae Keun Choi, Tung M. Phan, and Per F. Peterson. Three-dimensional modeling of the pebble-bed fluoride-salt-cooled, high-temperature reactor (PB-FHR) commercial plant design. In *Proceedings of the American Nuclear Society 2013 Winter Meeting*, 2013.
- [28] Limin Liu, Dalin Zhang, Qing Lu, Kunpeng Wang, and Suizheng Qiu. Preliminary neutronic and thermal-hydraulic analysis of a 2 MW thorium-based molten salt reactor with solid fuel. *Progress in Nuclear Energy*, 86:1–10, 2016. ISBN: 0149-1970 Publisher: Elsevier.
- [29] David Eugene Holcomb, Dan Ilas, Venugopal Koikal Varma, Anselmo T. Cisneros, Ryan P. Kelly, and Jess C. Gehin. Core and refueling design studies for the advanced high temperature reactor. ORNL/TM-2011/365, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Oak Ridge, TN, 2011.
- [30] Venugopal Koikal Varma, David Eugene Holcomb, Fred J. Peretz, Eric Craig Bradley, Dan Ilas, A. L. Qualls, and Nathaniel M. Zaharia. AHTR mechanical, structural, and neutronic preconceptual design. Technical report, Oak Ridge National Lab.(ORNL), Oak Ridge, TN (United States), 2012.
- [31] Sherrell R. Greene, Jess C. Gehin, David Eugene Holcomb, Juan J. Carbajo, Dan Ilas, Anselmo T. Cisneros, Venugopal Koikal Varma, William R. Corwin, Dane F. Wilson, and Graydon L. Yoder Jr. Pre-conceptual design of a fluoride-salt-cooled small modular advanced high-temperature reactor (SmAHTR). Oak Ridge National Laboratory, ORNL/TM-2010/199, 2010.
- [32] Kyle M. Ramey and Bojan Petrovic. Monte Carlo modeling and simulations of AHTR fuel assembly to support V&V of FHR core physics methods. Annals of Nuclear Energy, 118:272– 282, August 2018.
- [33] Charles W. Forsberg, Per F. Peterson, and Paul S. Pickard. Molten-salt-cooled advanced high-temperature reactor for production of hydrogen and electricity. *Nuclear Technology*, 144(3):289–302, 2003. ISBN: 0029-5450 Publisher: Taylor & Francis.
- [34] Farzad Rahnema, David Diamond, Dumitru Serghiuta, and Paul Burke. Phenomena, gaps, and issues for neutronics modeling and simulation of FHRs. Annals of Nuclear Energy, 123:172– 179, January 2019.
- [35] Farzad Rahnema, Bojan Petrovic, Christopher Edgar, Dingkang Zhang, Pietro Avigni, Michael Huang, and Stefano Terlizzi. The Current Status of the Tools for Modeling and Simulation of Advanced High Temperature Reactor Neutronics Analysis. Technical report, Georgia Institute of Technology, 2015.
- [36] David E. Holcomb, George F. Flanagan, Gary T. Mays, W. David Pointer, Kevin R. Robb, and Graydon L. Yoder Jr. Fluoride salt-cooled high-temperature reactor technology development and demonstration roadmap. ORNL/TM-2013/401, ORNL, Oak Ridge, TN, 2013.

- [37] Dingkang Zhang and Farzad Rahnema. Integrated Approach to Fluoride High Temperature Reactor Technology and Licensing Challenges (FHR-IRP). Technical report, Georgia Inst. of Technology, Atlanta, GA (United States), 2019.
- [38] Anselmo T. Cisneros and Dan Ilas. Neutronics and Depletion Methods for Parametric Studies of Fluoride Salt Cooled High Temperature Reactors with Slab Fuel Geometry and Multi-Batch Fuel Management Schemes. 2012.
- [39] Longwei Mei, Xiangzhou Cai, Dazhen Jiang, Jingen Chen, Yuhui Zhu, Yafen Liu, and Xiaohe Wang. The investigation of thermal neutron scattering data for molten salt Flibe. *Journal of Nuclear Science and Technology*, 50(7):682–688, 2013. ISBN: 0022-3131 Publisher: Taylor & Francis.
- [40] Y. Zhu and A. I. Hawari. Thermal neutron scattering cross section of liquid FLiBe. Progress in Nuclear Energy, 101:468–475, 2017. ISBN: 0149-1970 Publisher: Elsevier.
- [41] Bojan Petrovic, Kyle M. Ramey, Ian Hill, E. Losa, M. Elsawi, Z. Wu, C. Lu, J. Gonzalez, D. Novog, G. Chee, K. D. Huff, M. Margulis, N. Read, and Eugene Shwageraus. Preliminary results for the NEA FHR benchmark phase I-A and I-B (submitted). In ANS M&C 2021 -The International Conference on Mathematics and Computational Methods Applied to Nuclear Science and Engineering, Raleigh, North Carolina, 2021. ANS.
- [42] Bojan Petrovic and Kyle M. Ramey. FHR/AHTR NEA Benchmark, October 2019.
- [43] Ian Gibson, David W. Rosen, and Brent Stucker. Additive manufacturing technologies, volume 17. Springer, 2014.
- [44] ASTM Standard. Standard terminology for additive manufacturing technologies. ASTM International F2792-12a, 2012.
- [45] Adrin Uriondo, Manuel Esperon-Miguez, and Suresh Perinpanayagam. The present and future of additive manufacturing in the aerospace sector: A review of important aspects. Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part G: Journal of Aerospace Engineering, 229(11):2132–2147, 2015. ISBN: 0954-4100 Publisher: SAGE Publications Sage UK: London, England.
- [46] Transformation In 3D: How A Walnut-Sized Part Changed The Way GE Aviation Builds Jet Engines | GE News, 2018.
- [47] Niyanth Sridharan, Maxim N. Gussev, and Kevin G. Field. Performance of a ferritic/martensitic steel for nuclear reactor applications fabricated using additive manufacturing. *Journal of Nuclear Materials*, 521:45–55, 2019. ISBN: 0022-3115 Publisher: Elsevier.
- [48] Andrew Bergeron and J. B. Crigger. Early progress on additive manufacturing of nuclear fuel materials. *Journal of Nuclear Materials*, 508:344–347, 2018. ISBN: 0022-3115 Publisher: Elsevier.
- [49] Jhonathan Rosales, Isabella J. van Rooyen, and Clemente J. Parga. Characterizing surrogates to develop an additive manufacturing process for U3Si2 nuclear fuel. *Journal of Nuclear Materials*, 518:117–128, 2019. ISBN: 0022-3115 Publisher: Elsevier.

- [50] Takaaki Koyanagi, Kurt Terrani, Shay Harrison, Jian Liu, and Yutai Katoh. Additive manufacturing of silicon carbide for nuclear applications. *Journal of Nuclear Materials*, 543:152577, 2020. ISBN: 0022-3115 Publisher: Elsevier.
- [51] Cdric Sauder. Ceramic matrix composites: nuclear applications. *Ceramic matrix composites:* materials, modeling and technology, pages 609–646, 2014. Publisher: Wiley Online Library.
- [52] Lance L. Snead, Takashi Nozawa, Yutai Katoh, Thak-Sang Byun, Sosuke Kondo, and David A. Petti. Handbook of SiC properties for fuel performance modeling. *Journal of nuclear materials*, 371(1-3):329–377, 2007. ISBN: 0022-3115 Publisher: Elsevier.
- [53] Kurt A. Terrani, J. O. Kiggans, Chinthaka M. Silva, C. Shih, Yutai Katoh, and Lance Lewis Snead. Progress on matrix SiC processing and properties for fully ceramic microencapsulated fuel form. *Journal of Nuclear Materials*, 457:9–17, 2015. ISBN: 0022-3115 Publisher: Elsevier.
- [54] Michael P. Trammell, Brian C. Jolly, M. Dylan Richardson, Austin T. Schumacher, and Kurt A. Terrani. Advanced Nuclear Fuel Fabrication: Particle Fuel Concept for TCR. Technical report, 2019.
- [55] Kalyanmoy Deb. Multi-objective optimization using evolutionary algorithms, volume 16. John Wiley & Sons, 2001.
- [56] Wagner F. Sacco, Hermes Alves Filho, Nlio Henderson, and Cassiano RE de Oliveira. A Metropolis algorithm combined with NelderMead Simplex applied to nuclear reactor core design. Annals of Nuclear Energy, 35(5):861–867, 2008. ISBN: 0306-4549 Publisher: Elsevier.
- [57] Faisal Y. Odeh and Won Sik Yang. Core design optimization and analysis of the Purdue Novel Modular Reactor (NMR-50). Annals of Nuclear Energy, 94:288–299, 2016. ISBN: 0306-4549 Publisher: Elsevier.
- [58] C. D. Fletcher and R. R. Schultz. RELAP5/MOD3 code manual. Technical report, Nuclear Regulatory Commission, 1992.
- [59] David J. Kropaczek and Ryan Walden. Large-Scale Application of the Constraint Annealing Method for Pressurized Water Reactor Core Design Optimization. *Nuclear Science and Engineering*, 193(5):523–536, 2019. ISBN: 0029-5639 Publisher: Taylor & Francis.
- [60] David J. Kropaczek and Ryan Walden. Constraint annealing method for solution of multiconstrained nuclear fuel cycle optimization problems. *Nuclear Science and Engineering*, 193(5):506–522, 2019. ISBN: 0029-5639 Publisher: Taylor & Francis.
- [61] Cludio MNA Pereira and Celso MF Lapa. Coarse-grained parallel genetic algorithm applied to a nuclear reactor core design optimization problem. Annals of Nuclear Energy, 30(5):555–565, 2003. ISBN: 0306-4549 Publisher: Elsevier.
- [62] Sarah Kamalpour and Hossein Khalafi. SMART reactor core design optimization based on FCM fuel. Nuclear Engineering and Design, page 110970, 2020. ISBN: 0029-5493 Publisher: Elsevier.
- [63] Benjamin R. Betzler, David Chandler, David H. Cook, Eva E. Davidson, and Germina Ilas. Design optimization methods for high-performance research reactor core design. *Nuclear Engineering and Design*, 352:110167, 2019. ISBN: 0029-5493 Publisher: Elsevier.

- [64] David L. Poole. Computational intelligence. Oxford University Press, 1998.
- [65] David E. Goldberg. Genetic algorithms in search. Optimization, and MachineLearning, 1989. Publisher: Addison Wesley Publishing Co. Inc.
- [66] Kalyanmoy Deb, Amrit Pratap, Sameer Agarwal, and TAMT Meyarivan. A fast and elitist multiobjective genetic algorithm: NSGA-II. *IEEE transactions on evolutionary computation*, 6(2):182–197, 2002. ISBN: 1089-778X Publisher: IEEE.
- [67] David E. Goldberg, Kalyanmoy Deb, and Dirk Thierens. Toward a better understanding of mixing in genetic algorithms. *Journal of the Society of Instrument and Control Engineers*, 32(1):10–16, 1993. ISBN: 0453-4662 Publisher: The Society of Instrument and Control Engineers.
- [68] Andrew Ng, Kian Katanforoosh, and Younes Bensouda Mourri. Improving Deep Neural Networks: Hyperparameter Tuning, Regularization and Optimization, 2021.